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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS

Ampco-Pittsburgh Corporation (the Corporation ) was incorporated in Pennsylvania in 1929. The Corporation, individually or together with its
consolidated subsidiaries, is also referred to herein as the Registrant .

The Corporation classifies its businesses in two segments: Forged and Cast Rolls and Air and Liquid Processing.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS

The sales and operating profit of the Corporation s two segments and the identifiable assets attributable to both segments for the three years
ended December 31, 2007 are set forth in Note 20 (Business Segments) on page 46 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Forged and Cast Rolls Segment

Union Electric Steel Corporation produces forged hardened steel rolls used in cold rolling by producers of steel, aluminum and other metals
throughout the world. It is headquartered in Carnegie, Pennsylvania with three manufacturing facilities in Pennsylvania and one in Indiana.
Union Electric Steel Corporation is one of the largest producers of forged hardened steel rolls in the world. In addition to several domestic
competitors, several major European, South American and Asian manufacturers also compete in both the domestic and foreign markets. In 2007,
a subsidiary company became a 49% partner in a joint venture in China to begin the manufacture of large forged backup rolls during 2010.

The Davy Roll Company Limited produces cast rolls for hot and cold strip mills, medium/heavy section mills and plate mills in a variety of iron
and steel qualities. It is located in Gateshead, England and is a major supplier of cast rolls to the metal working industry worldwide. It primarily
competes with European, Asian and North and South American companies in both the domestic and foreign markets. Davy Roll also has an
investment in a Chinese producer of cast rolls.

Air and Liquid Processing Segment

Aerofin Corporation produces finned tube and plate finned heat exchange coils for the commercial and industrial construction, process and utility
industries and is located in Lynchburg, Virginia.

Buffalo Air Handling Company produces large custom air handling systems used in commercial, institutional and industrial buildings and is
located in Amherst, Virginia.

Buffalo Pumps, Inc. manufactures a line of centrifugal pumps for the refrigeration, power generation and marine defense industries and is
located in North Tonawanda, New York.

All three of the companies in this segment are principally represented by a common independent sales organization and have several major
competitors.

In both segments, the products are dependent on engineering, principally custom designed, and are sold to sophisticated commercial and
industrial users located throughout the world.

The Forged and Cast Rolls segment has two international customers which constituted 12.3% and 10.5% of its sales in 2007. While loss of these
customers would have some potential adverse financial impact, the current worldwide shortage of roll-making capacity is such that the impact
could be minimized.

For additional information on the products produced and financial information about each segment, see Note 20 (Business Segments) on page 46
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Raw Materials

Raw materials used in both segments are generally available from many sources and the Corporation is not dependent upon any single supplier
for any raw material. Substantial volumes of raw materials used by the Corporation are subject to significant variations in price. The Corporation
generally does not purchase or commit for the purchase of a major portion of raw materials significantly in advance of the time it requires such
materials but does make substantial forward commitments for the supply of natural gas.

Patents

While the Corporation holds some patents, trademarks and licenses, in the opinion of management they are not material to either segment of the
Corporation s business, other than in protecting the goodwill associated with the names under which products are sold.

Backlog

The backlog of orders at December 31, 2007 was approximately $729 million compared to a backlog of $590 million at year-end 2006.
Approximately $412 million of those orders is expected to be filled beyond 2008. In addition, the Corporation is a party to long-term supply
agreements under which certain customers are committed to purchasing (in 2009 and beyond) approximately $93 million of product for which
specific orders have not yet been received.

Competition
The Corporation faces considerable competition from a large number of companies in both segments. The Corporation believes, however, that it

is a significant factor in each of the niche markets which it serves. Competition in both segments is based on quality, service, price and delivery.
For additional information, see Narrative Description of Business on page 6 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Research and Development

As part of an overall strategy to develop new markets and maintain leadership in each of the industry niches served, each of the Corporation s
businesses in both segments incurs expenditures for research and development. The activities that are undertaken are designed to develop new
products, improve existing products and processes, enhance product quality, adapt products to meet customer specifications and reduce
manufacturing costs. In the aggregate, these expenditures approximated $1.2 million in 2007, $1.5 million in 2006 and $1.2 million in 2005.

Environmental Protection Compliance Costs

Expenditures for environmental control matters were not material to either segment in 2007 and such expenditures are not expected to be
material in 2008.

Employees
On December 31, 2007, the Corporation had 1,323 active employees.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT GEOGRAPHIC AREAS

The Forged and Cast Rolls segment has a manufacturing operation in England and a small European sales and engineering support group in
Belgium. For financial information relating to foreign and domestic operations see Note 20 (Business Segments) on page 46 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Corporation s Internet address is www.ampcopittsburgh.com. The Corporation makes available, free of charge on its Internet website, access
to its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed pursuant
to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is filed with, or furnished to, the Securities
and Exchange Commission.



Edgar Filing: AMPCO PITTSBURGH CORP - Form 10-K

7 ampco pittsburgh | 2007 annual report



Edgar Filing: AMPCO PITTSBURGH CORP - Form 10-K

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

From time to time, important factors may cause actual results to differ materially from any future expected results based on performance
expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements made by us, including known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many
of which it is not possible to predict or control. Several of these factors are described from time to time in our filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, but the factors described in filings are not the only risks that are faced.

Exceptional Demand

An unprecedented increase in steel production, particularly in China and certain other developing countries, has created a severe shortage of
rolling mill roll production capacity throughout the world. This shortage has resulted in our Forged and Cast Rolls segment receiving orders and
contracts for the supply of rolls for several years into the future. Cancellation of such orders and contracts or delays in acceptance of delivery of
rolls by customers may result in potential adverse impact on financial results and be the subject of contract renegotiation or even litigation.

Cyclical Demand for Products

A significant portion of our sales consist of rolling mill rolls to customers in the global steel industry which is periodically impacted by cyclical
downturns in demand for its product. Such downturns, the timing and length of which are difficult to predict, may reduce the demand for and
sales of our forged and cast steel rolls both in the United States and the rest of the world. Lower demand for rolls may also adversely impact
profitability as other roll producers, which compete with us, lower selling prices in the market place in order to fill their manufacturing capacity.

Steel Industry Consolidation

Globally, the steel industry has undergone structural change by way of consolidation and mergers. In certain markets, the resultant reduction in
the number of steel plants and the increased buying power of the enlarged steel producing companies may put pressure on the selling prices and
profit margins of rolls.

Export Sales

Exports are a significant proportion of our sales. Historically, changes in foreign exchange rates, particularly in respect of the U.S. dollar and the
Euro, have impacted the export of our products and may do so again in the future. Other factors which may adversely impact export sales and
operating results include political and economic instability, export controls, changes in tax laws and tariffs and new indigenous producers in
overseas markets. A reduction in the level of export sales may have an adverse impact on our financial results. In addition, exchange rate
changes may allow foreign roll suppliers to compete in our home markets.

Capital Spending

Each of our businesses is susceptible to the general level of economic activity, particularly as it impacts industrial and construction capital
spending. A downturn in capital spending in the United States and elsewhere may reduce demand for and sales of our air handling, power
generation and refrigeration equipment, and rolling mill rolls. Lower demand may also reduce profit margins due to our competitors and us
striving to maximize manufacturing capacity by lowering prices.

Prices and Availability of Commodities

We use certain commodities in the manufacture of our products. These include steel scrap, ferro alloys and energy. Any sudden price increase
may cause a reduction in profit margins or losses where fixed priced-contracts have been accepted or increases cannot be obtained in future
selling prices. In addition, there may be curtailment in electricity or gas supply which would adversely impact production. Shortage of critical
materials while driving up costs may be of such severity as to disrupt production, all of which may impact sales and profitability.

Labor Agreements

We have several key operations which are subject to multi-year collective bargaining agreements with our hourly work force. While we believe
we have excellent relations with our unions, there is the risk of industrial action at the expiration of an agreement if contract negotiations break
down, which may disrupt manufacturing and impact results of operations.

ampco pittsburgh | 2007 annual report 8



Edgar Filing: AMPCO PITTSBURGH CORP - Form 10-K

Dependence on Certain Equipment

Our principal business relies on certain unique equipment including a single electric arc furnace and forge press. If any such unique equipment is
out of operation for an extended period, it may result in a significant reduction in our sales and earnings. Loss of certain subcontractors may
have a similar impact.

Asbestos Litigation

Our subsidiaries, and in some cases, we, are defendants in numerous claims alleging personal injury from exposure to asbestos-containing
components historically used in certain products of our subsidiaries. Through year-end 2007, our insurance has covered substantially all of our
settlement and defense costs. We believe that our pending asbestos legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
financial condition or liquidity. However, there can be no assurance that our subsidiaries or we will not be subject to significant additional
claims in the future or that our subsidiaries ultimate liability with respect to asbestos claims will not present significantly greater and longer
lasting financial exposure than is represented by the pending claims. The ultimate liability with respect to such pending and any unasserted
claims is subject to various uncertainties, including the following:

the number of claims that are brought in the future;

the costs of defending and settling these claims;

insolvencies among our insurance carriers and the risk of future insolvencies;

the possibility that adverse jury verdicts could require damage payments in amounts greater than the amounts for which we have
historically settled claims;

possible changes in the litigation environment or federal and state law governing the compensation of asbestos claimants;

the risk that the bankruptcies of other asbestos defendants may increase our costs; and

the risk that our insurance will not cover as much of our asbestos liabilities as anticipated.
Because of the uncertainties related to such claims, it is possible that the ultimate liability could have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial condition or liquidity in the future.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to various domestic and international environmental laws and regulations that govern the discharge of pollutants and disposal of
wastes and which may require that we investigate and remediate the effects of the release or disposal of materials at sites associated with past
and present operations. We could incur substantial cleanup costs, fines and civil or criminal sanctions, third party property damage or personal
injury claims as a result of violations or liabilities under these laws or non-compliance with environmental permits required at our facilities.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Corporation has no unresolved staff comments.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The location and general character of the principal locations in each segment, all of which are owned unless otherwise noted, are as follows:

Approximate

Company and Location Principal Use Square Footage Type of Construction

FORGED AND CAST ROLLS SEGMENT

Union Electric Steel Corporation Manufacturing facilities 217,000 on 55 acres Metal and steel

Route 18

Burgettstown, PA 15021

726 Bell Avenue Manufacturing facilities 165,900 on 8.7 acres Metal and steel
and offices

Carnegie, PA 15106

U.S. Highway 30 Manufacturing facilities 88,000 on 20 acres Metal and steel

Valparaiso, IN 46383

1712 Greengarden Road Manufacturing facilities 40,000%* Metal and steel

Erie, PA 16501

Industrie Park Sales and engineering 4,500%* Cement block

B-3980 Tessenderlo

Belgium

The Davy Roll Company Manufacturing facilities 274,000 on 10 acres Steel framed,
and offices

Coulthards Lane metal and brick

Gateshead, England

AIR AND LIQUID PROCESSING SEGMENT

Aerofin Corporation Manufacturing facilities 146,000 on 15.3 acres Brick, concrete
and offices

4621 Murray Place and steel

Lynchburg, VA 24506

Buffalo Air Handling Company Manufacturing facilities 89,000 on 19.5 acres Metal and steel
and offices

Zane Snead Drive

Ambherst, VA 24531

Buffalo Pumps, Inc. Manufacturing facilities 94,000 on 7 acres Metal, brick
and offices

874 Oliver Street and cement block

N. Tonawanda, NY 14120
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*Facility is leased.
The Corporate office space is leased, as are several small sales offices. All of the owned facilities are adequate and suitable for their respective
purposes.

The Forged and Cast Rolls segment s facilities were operated at more than 95% of their normal capacity during 2007 whereas the facilities of the
Air and Liquid Processing segment were operated within 70% to 80% of their normal capacity. Normal capacity is defined as capacity under
approximately normal conditions with allowances made for unavoidable interruptions, such as lost time for repairs, maintenance, breakdowns,
set-up, failure, supply delays, labor shortages and absences, Sundays, holidays, vacation, inventory taking, etc. The number of work shifts is also
taken into consideration.
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ITEM3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
LITIGATION

The Corporation and its subsidiaries are involved in various claims and lawsuits incidental to their businesses. In addition, it is also subject to
asbestos litigation as described below.

Asbestos Litigation

Claims have been asserted alleging personal injury from exposure to asbestos-containing components historically used in some products of
certain of the Corporation s operating subsidiaries ( Asbestos Liability ) and of an inactive subsidiary and another former division of the
Corporation. Those subsidiaries, and in some cases the Corporation, are defendants (among a number of defendants, typically over 50) in cases
filed in various state and federal courts.

Asbestos Claims

The following table reflects approximate information about the claims for Asbestos Liability against the subsidiaries and the Corporation, along
with certain asbestos claims asserted against the inactive subsidiary and the former division, for the three years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005:

2007 2006 2005
Open claims at end of period 8,335 9,4421) 16,900
Gross settlement and defense costs (in 000 s) $ 19,736 $ 11,681 $ 10,305
Claims resolved 2,638 8,866(2) 11,5003,

() Included as open claims are approximately 3,155 claims in 2007 and 2,300 claims in 2006 classified in various jurisdictions as inactive or transferred
to a state or federal judicial panel on multi-district litigation, commonly referred to as the MDL.

(2) Claims resolved in 2006 include 5,456 Mississippi cases that were administratively dismissed without prejudice because the cases were initiated through a
mass screening and not with a proper medical report setting forth an asbestos-related disease. These cases could be re-filed in the future if the plaintiff can
show some evidence of asbestos exposure and evidence of an asbestos-related disease.

(3) Claims resolved in 2005 include approximately 6,700 claims filed in Mississippi which were dismissed as a result of tort reform in that state.

Substantially all settlement and defense costs reflected in the above table were reported and paid by insurers. Because claims are often filed and
can be settled or dismissed in large groups, the amount and timing of settlements, as well as the number of open claims, can fluctuate
significantly from period to period. In 2006, for the first time, a claim for Asbestos Liability against one of the Corporation s subsidiaries was
tried to a jury. The trial resulted in a defense verdict.

Asbestos Insurance

Certain of the Corporation s subsidiaries and the Corporation have an arrangement (the Coverage Arrangement ) with insurers responsible for
historical primary and some umbrella insurance coverage for Asbestos Liability (the Paying Insurers ). Under the Coverage Arrangement, the
Paying Insurers accept financial responsibility, subject to the limits of the policies and based on fixed defense percentages and specified
indemnity allocation formulas, for a substantial majority of the pending claims for Asbestos Liability.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, one Paying Insurer responsible for two years of primary coverage informed the Corporation that its policies had
exhausted. Another Paying Insurer responsible for approximately two and a half years of primary coverage informed the Corporation that two of
its policies would likely exhaust in the first quarter of 2008. In addition, the Paying Insurer responsible for some umbrella insurance coverage
also informed the Corporation that approximately one half of its umbrella insurance coverage had exhausted at the end of the year. As a result,
and as contemplated by the valuation discussed below, the Corporation will bear a portion of the defense and indemnity costs for Asbestos
Liability.

12



Edgar Filing: AMPCO PITTSBURGH CORP - Form 10-K

The Coverage Arrangement includes an acknowledgement that Howden Buffalo, Inc. ( Howden ), is entitled to coverage under policies covering
Asbestos Liability, for claims arising out of the historical products manufactured or distributed by Buffalo Forge, a former subsidiary of the
Corporation (the Products ). The Coverage Arrangement does not provide for any prioritization on access to the applicable policies or monetary
cap other than the limits of the policies, and, accordingly, Howden may access the policies at any time for any covered claim arising out of a
Product. In general, access by Howden to the policies covering the Products will erode the coverage under the policies available to the
Corporation and the relevant subsidiaries for Asbestos Liability alleged to arise out of not only the Products but also other historical products of
the Corporation and its subsidiaries covered by the applicable policies.

11 ampco pittsburgh | 2007 annual report
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Asbestos Valuations

The Corporation retained Hamilton, Rabinovitz & Alschuler, Inc. ( HR&A ), a nationally recognized expert in the valuation of asbestos liabilities,
to assist the Corporation in estimating the potential liability for pending and unasserted future claims for Asbestos Liability. HR&A was not
requested to estimate asbestos claims against the inactive subsidiary or the former division, which the Corporation believes are immaterial. The
methodology used by HR&A to project the operating subsidiaries liability for pending and unasserted potential future claims for Asbestos
Liability relied upon and included the following factors:

HR&A s interpretation of a widely accepted forecast of the population likely to have been exposed to asbestos;

epidemiological studies estimating the number of people likely to develop asbestos-related diseases;

HR&A s analysis of the number of people likely to file an asbestos-related injury claim against the subsidiaries and the Corporation
based on such epidemiological data and relevant claims history from January 1, 2004 through August 31, 2006;

an analysis of pending cases, by type of injury claimed and jurisdiction where the claim is filed;

an analysis of claims resolution history from January 1, 2004 through August 31, 2006 to determine the average settlement value of
claims, by type of injury claimed and jurisdiction of filing; and

an adjustment for inflation in the future average settlement value of claims, at an annual inflation rate based on the Congressional
Budget Office s ten year forecast of inflation.
Using this information, HR&A estimated the number of future claims for Asbestos Liability that would be filed through the year 2013, as well as
the settlement or indemnity costs that would be incurred to resolve both pending and future unasserted claims through 2013. This methodology
has been accepted by numerous courts.

The Corporation also retained The Claro Group LLC ( Claro ) in 2006, a nationally-recognized insurance consulting firm, to assist, in
combination with advice to the Corporation from outside counsel, in analyzing potential recoveries from relevant historical insurance for
Asbestos Liability. Using HR&A s projection for settlement or indemnity costs for Asbestos Liability and management s projections of associated
defense costs (based on current defense cost levels with an annual 5% inflation factor), Claro allocated the Asbestos Liability to the insurance
policies. The allocations took into account the Coverage Arrangement, self-insured retentions, policy exclusions, policy limits, policy provisions
regarding coverage for defense costs, attachment points, prior impairment of policies and gaps in the coverage, insolvencies among certain of the
insurance carriers, the nature of the underlying claims for Asbestos Liability asserted against the subsidiaries and the Corporation as reflected in
the Corporation s asbestos claims database, as well as estimated erosion of insurance limits on account of claims against Howden arising out of
the Products. Based upon Claro s allocations, and taking into account the Corporation s analysis of publicly available information on the
credit-worthiness of various insurers, the Corporation estimated the probable insurance recoveries for Asbestos Liability and defense costs
through 2013. Although the Corporation, after consulting with its counsel and Claro, believes that the assumptions employed in the insurance
valuation were appropriate, there are other assumptions that could have been employed that would have resulted in materially lower insurance
recovery projections.

Based on the analyses described above, the Corporation recorded reserves at December 31, 2006 for the total costs, including defense costs, for
Asbestos Liability claims pending or projected to be asserted through 2013 of $140 million, of which approximately 60% was attributable to
settlement and defense costs for unasserted claims projected to be filed through 2013. The reserve at December 31, 2007 was $119.7 million.
While it is reasonably possible that the Corporation will incur additional charges for Asbestos Liability and defense costs in excess of the
amounts currently reserved, the Corporation believes that there is too much uncertainty to provide for reasonable estimation of the number of
future claims, the nature of such claims and the cost to resolve them beyond 2013. Accordingly, no reserve has been recorded for any costs that
may be incurred after 2013.

The Corporation recorded a receivable as at December 31, 2006 of $114.5 million ($94.5 million as of December 31, 2007) for insurance
recoveries attributable to the claims for which the Corporation s Asbestos Liability reserve has been established, including the portion of incurred
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defense costs covered by the Coverage Arrangement, and the probable payments and reimbursements relating to the estimated indemnity and
defense costs for pending and unasserted future Asbestos Liability claims. The insurance receivable recorded by the Corporation does not
assume any recovery from insolvent carriers, and substantially all of the insurance recoveries deemed probable were from insurance companies
rated A (excellent) or better by A.M. Best Corporation. There can be no assurance, however, that there will not be further insolvencies among
the relevant insurance carriers, or that the assumed percentage recoveries for certain carriers will prove
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correct. The $25.5 million difference between insurance recoveries and projected costs is not due to exhaustion of the total product liability
insurance for Asbestos Liability. The Corporation and the subsidiaries have substantial additional insurance coverage which the Corporation
expects to be available for Asbestos Liability claims and defense costs the subsidiaries and it may incur after 2013. However, this insurance
coverage also can be expected to have gaps creating significant shortfalls of insurance recoveries as against claims expense, which could be
material in future years.

The amounts recorded by the Corporation for Asbestos Liabilities and insurance receivables rely on assumptions that are based on currently
known facts and strategy. The Corporation s actual expenses or insurance recoveries could be significantly higher or lower than those recorded if
assumptions used in the Corporation s, HR&A s or The Claro Group s calculations vary significantly from actual results. Key variables in these
assumptions are identified above and include the number and type of new claims to be filed each year, the average cost of disposing of each such
new claim, average annual defense costs, the resolution of coverage issues with insurance carriers, and the solvency risk with respect to the
relevant insurance carriers. Other factors that may affect the Corporation s Asbestos Liability and ability to recover under its insurance policies
include uncertainties surrounding the litigation process from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and from case to case, reforms that may be made by state
and federal courts, and the passage of state or federal tort reform legislation.

In 2007, the Corporation undertook another review of its Asbestos Liability claims, defense costs and likelihood for insurance recoveries and
determined no change to the provision should be made at this time.

The Corporation intends to evaluate its estimated Asbestos Liability and related insurance receivables as well as the underlying assumptions on a
periodic basis to determine whether any adjustments to the estimates are required. Due to the uncertainties surrounding asbestos litigation and
insurance, these periodic reviews may result in the Corporation incurring future charges; however, the Corporation is currently unable to
estimate such future charges. Adjustments, if any, to the Corporation s estimate of its recorded Asbestos Liability and/or insurance receivables
could be material to operating results for the periods in which the adjustments to the liability or receivable are recorded, and to the Corporation s
liquidity and consolidated financial position.

ENVIRONMENTAL

With respect to environmental matters, the Corporation is currently performing certain remedial actions in connection with the sale of real estate
previously owned and has been named a Potentially Responsible Party at three third-party landfill sites. In addition, as a result of the sale of a
segment, the Corporation retained the liability to remediate certain environmental contamination at two of the sold locations and has agreed to
indemnify the buyer against third-party claims arising from the discharge of certain contamination from one of these locations. Environmental
exposures are difficult to assess and estimate for numerous reasons including lack of reliable data, the multiplicity of possible solutions, the
years of remedial and monitoring activity required, and identification of new sites. However, in the opinion of management, the potential
liability for all environmental proceedings based on information known to date has been adequately reserved.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PARTII

ITEMS. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF SECURITIES
The shares of common stock of Ampco-Pittsburgh Corporation are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol AP) and the Philadelphia
Stock Exchange. Cash dividends have been paid on common shares in every year since 1965.

2007 Per Share 2006 Per Share
Common Stock Price Common Stock Price
Dividends Dividends
Quarter High Low Declared High Low Declared
First $33.57 $22.99 $ 0.15 $21.90 $13.92 $ 0.10
Second 40.34 28.85 0.15 35.86 18.48 0.10
Third 54.46 36.34 0.15 33.45 25.19 0.10
Fourth 47.00 33.30 0.15 37.31 29.93 0.10
Year 54.46 22.99 0.60 37.31 13.92 0.40

The number of shareholders at December 31, 2007 and 2006 equaled 593 and 629, respectively.

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

In the above graph, the Corporation has used Value Line s Steel (Integrated) group for its peer comparison. The diversity of products produced
by subsidiaries of the Corporation made it difficult to match to any one product-based peer group. Although not totally comparable, the Steel
(Integrated) group was chosen because the largest percentage of the Corporation s sales are to the global steel industry.

Historical stock price performance shown on the above graph is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Year Ended December 31,
(dollars, except per share amounts, and shares outstanding in thousands) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Net sales $ 346,834 $301,780 $246,999 $202,861 $ 180,233
Income (loss) from continuing operations 39,231 16,635 15,036 (2,599) 2,908
Net income (loss) 39,231 16,635 15,036 (2,599) (2,190)
Total assets® 404,392 381,211 241,869 237,944 234,148
Shareholders equity 187,730 140,204 141,301 128,517 145,630
Earnings per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Basic 3.90 1.69 1.54 0.27) 0.30
Diluted 3.88 1.67 1.53 0.27) 0.30
Net income (loss)
Basic 3.90 1.69 1.54 0.27) (0.23)
Diluted 3.88 1.67 1.53 0.27) (0.23)
Per common share:
Cash dividends declared 0.60 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40
Shareholders equity 18.45 14.25 14.47 13.19 15.08
Market price at year end 38.13 33.48 14.51 14.60 13.67
Weighted average common shares outstanding 10,046 9,828 9,760 9,708 9,637
Number of shareholders 593 629 698 744 842
Number of employees 1,323 1,324 1,234 1,252 1,152

(1) Net income (loss) includes:
2007 A tax benefit of $714 or $0.07 per common share for the release of tax-related valuation allowances associated with capital loss carryforwards.

2006  An after-tax charge of $15,888 for estimated costs of asbestos-related litigation through 2013 net of estimated insurance recoveries (see Note 17 to
Consolidated Financial Statements) offset by the release of $6,500 of tax-related valuation allowances, associated primarily with the U.K. operation, for a net
decrease to net income of $9,388 or $0.96 per common share.

2005  After-tax proceeds from the settlement of a business interruption insurance claim related to flooding in 2004 and the release of $4,404 of tax-related
valuation allowances, associated primarily with the U.K. operation, for a combined improvement to net income of $6,044 or $0.62 per common share.

2003  An after-tax loss from discontinued operations of $5,098 or $0.53 per common share arising from the sale of a segment.

(2) Total assets for 2007 and 2006 include asbestos-related insurance receivables of $94,548 and $114,548, respectively (see Note 17 to Consolidated Financial
Statements).
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Ampco-Pittsburgh Corporation (the Corporation), which operates in two business segments more fully described below, achieved record results
in 2007. The Forged and Cast Rolls group was the principal contributor with the Air and Liquid Processing segment producing a much-improved
level of earnings.

The Forged and Cast Rolls segment consists of Union Electric Steel Corporation (Union Electric Steel) and Davy Roll Company Limited (Davy
Roll). Union Electric Steel is one of the world s largest manufacturers of forged-hardened steel rolls with principal operations in Pennsylvania
and Indiana whereas Davy Roll produces cast iron and steel rolls and has facilities in England. Rolls are supplied to manufacturers of steel and
aluminum throughout the world. The Air and Liquid Processing segment consists of Aerofin Corporation (Aerofin), Buffalo Air Handling
Company (Buffalo Air Handling) and Buffalo Pumps, Inc. (Buffalo Pumps). Aerofin produces highly-engineered heat-exchange coils for a
variety of users including electric utility, HVAC, power generation, industrial process and other manufacturing industries. Buffalo Air Handling
produces custom-designed air handling systems for commercial, institutional and industrial building markets. Buffalo Pumps manufactures
centrifugal pumps for the defense, refrigeration and power-generation industries. Aerofin and Buffalo Air Handling have operations in Virginia
and Buffalo Pumps is located in New York. The segment distributes a significant portion of its products through a common independent group
of sales offices located throughout the U.S. and Canada.

Results for the Forged and Cast Rolls group for 2007 were the highest on record. The increased level of steel and aluminum production
throughout the world, particularly in developing countries, the global shortage of roll-making capacity and the weak dollar contributed to the
continuing demand for rolls produced by this segment. The outlook for the foreseeable future is favorable. Customers concerned with the
ongoing availability of rolls have entered into long-term supply arrangements going out several years. These arrangements generally include
protection against inflation in the cost of materials and cancellation of orders. With backlog (unfilled orders on hand) at record levels, the
segment has filled its capacity for 2008 and several years beyond for certain roll types.

The Forged and Cast Rolls segment is undertaking a major capital program investing approximately $60 million, in addition to its normal level
of capital expenditure, over the next three years. While not significantly adding to the production capacity of the group, the expenditures will
minimize equipment down-time, improve productivity and maintain the manufacture of premium, quality product.

During the year, a subsidiary of Union Electric Steel entered into an agreement with Maanshan Iron & Steel Company Limited (Maanshan) to
form a joint venture company in China. The joint venture will principally manufacture and sell forged backup rolling-mill rolls of a size and
weight currently not able to be produced by Union Electric Steel. It is anticipated to have an initial annual capacity of approximately 10,000
metric tons with Union Electric Steel having exclusive marketing and sales rights. Production is expected to begin by early 2010. Union Electric
Steel has a forty-nine percent interest in the joint venture which is accounted for on the equity method (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements).

The focus for the Forged and Cast Rolls segment in the coming year will be to manage the ever-extending backlog while operating at capacity,
maintaining the reliability of equipment, and coordinating the new backup roll joint venture in China while sustaining its reputation for superior
quality and on-time delivery.

Results for the Air and Liquid Processing segment for 2007 were the highest since 2002 with each company s operating performance stronger
than in 2006 and 2005. In particular, the volume-sensitive air handling systems business returned to profitability from close to break-even results
in 2006 and losses in 2005. In 2006, results for the group were severely impacted by a $25,467 pre-tax charge for estimated settlement and
defense costs of pending and future asbestos claims offset by estimated insurance recoveries (see Note 17 to Consolidated Financial Statements).
The outlook for 2008 for this segment is for a modest increase in sales and operating income.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OVERVIEW

Consolidated sales and operating income for 2007, 2006 and 2005 are indicated below. A full discussion of the operating results for each of the
segments is presented later in this section.

The Corporation

2007 2006 2005
Net Sales:
Forged and Cast Rolls $ 241,581 70% $206,374 68% $171,243 69%

Air and Liquid Processing

105,253 30% 95,406 32% 75,756 31%

Total $346,834 100% $301,780 100% $246,999 100%
Income (Loss) from Operations:

Forged and Cast Rolls $ 54,523 $ 36,352 $ 16,493

Air and Liquid Processing 9,037 (19,206) 3,743
Corporate costs (6,143) (5,574) (5,535)

Total $ 57417 $ 11,572 $ 14,701

Backlog:

Forged and Cast Rolls $ 684,769 94% $ 548,522 93% $275,597 88%
Air and Liquid Processing 43,949 6% 41,302 7% 36,675 12%
Total $728,718 100% $589,824 100% $312,272 100%

In comparison to the prior years, sales and operating income for 2007 improved significantly for each of the segments on higher volumes and,
for the Forged and Cast Rolls group, better pricing. Income from operations for 2007 was negatively impacted by higher net periodic pension
costs associated with the Corporation s various pension plans. Pension costs increased by approximately $1,813 and $657 when compared to
2006 and 2005, respectively, due principally to changes in assumptions.

The growth in backlog at December 31, 2007 against December 31, 2006 and 2005 is attributable to the Forged and Cast Rolls segment and
increased demand for rolling mill rolls. A shortage of roll manufacturing capacity has forced customers to place orders considerably in advance
of shipment dates; accordingly, approximately $411,541 (or 56%) of the backlog is scheduled for delivery beyond 2008. In addition, the Forged
and Cast Rolls group has commitments from customers under long-term supply arrangements which will be included in backlog upon receipt of
purchases orders.

Gross margin, excluding depreciation, as a percentage of net sales approximated 29.7%, 26.5% and 21.1% for 2007, 2006 and 2005,

respectively. The improvement is primarily attributable to the additional volume and better pricing, particularly for the Forged and Cast Rolls
segment. Gross margin, excluding depreciation, was negatively affected in 2007 by higher net periodic pension costs associated with the
Corporation s various pension plans. By comparison, 2005 was adversely impacted by unprecedented increases in the cost of steel scrap and ferro
alloys used by the Forged and Cast Rolls group and its inability to recover such costs due to fixed selling price contracts. Increase in commodity
costs have continued; however, starting in 2005, a variable-index surcharge mechanism was adopted which provides protection from unforeseen
increases in cost of raw materials.

Selling and administrative expenses totaled $38,972 (11.2% of net sales), $36,284 (12.0% of net sales) and $30,785 (12.5% of net sales) for
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The dollar increase is due principally to higher sales commissions which are at fixed percentage and
accordingly increase as sales rise, general inflationary increases associated with salaries and fringes and higher net periodic pension costs.

The charge for asbestos litigation in 2006 represents the estimated costs of pending and future asbestos claims, net of estimated insurance
recoveries, for a period of seven years ending December 31, 2013. The claims result from alleged personal injury from exposure to
asbestos-containing equipment manufactured decades ago by certain subsidiaries of the Air and Liquid Processing segment (see Note 17 to
Consolidated Financial Statements).
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Investment-related income improved in 2007 versus 2006 and in 2006 against 2005 due to higher investment balances throughout the respective
years, better rates of return and increased dividends from the Corporation s U.K./Chinese cast-roll joint venture company. Such dividends
approximated $540 in 2007 and $170 in 2006, the first year that dividends were received. Interest expense for 2007 and 2006 was comparable
and the increase from 2005 is attributable to higher interest rates on the Corporation s variable-rate Industrial Revenue Bonds. Other income
(expense) fluctuated primarily as a result of higher foreign exchange losses in 2007 versus gains in 2006 and 2005. An additional provision of
$335 for environmental costs estimated to be incurred relating to the remediation of real estate previously owned by a discontinued operation
was provided in 2006 and is included in other income (expense) for that year.

The Corporation s statutory income tax rate ranges between 34% 35% which compares to an effective rate of 32.8%, (26.7%) and (1.3%) for
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The effective rates were reduced by the reversal of valuation allowances previously provided against
deferred income tax assets associated with capital loss carryforwards for 2007, and primarily with the U.K. operation for 2006 and 2005 which
resulted in an overall income tax benefit for each of those two years. Beneficial permanent differences for the domestic operations also favorably
impacted the effective rates.

As a result of the above, the Corporation earned $39,231 or $3.90 per common share for 2007, $16,635 or $1.69 per common share for 2006 and
$15,036 or $1.54 per common share for 2005. Net income for 2007 includes an after-tax benefit of $714 or $0.07 per common share for the
release of tax-related valuation allowances associated with capital loss carryforwards. Net income for 2006 includes a net after-tax charge of
$9,388 or $0.96 per common share for the estimated costs of asbestos-related litigation through 2013 offset by the release of tax-related

valuation allowances principally for the Corporation s U.K. operation. Net income for 2005 includes a net after-tax benefit of $6,044 or $0.62 per
common share for proceeds from settlement of a business interruption insurance claim and the release of tax-related valuation allowances
principally for the Corporation s U.K. operation.

Forged and Cast Rolls

2007 2006 2005
Sales $241,581 $206,374 $171,243
Operating income $ 54,523 $ 36,352 $ 16,493
Backlog $ 684,769 $548,522 $275,597

The Forged and Cast Rolls segment continued to benefit from growth in steel production throughout the world, particularly in developing
countries. This, together with a global shortage of roll-making capacity, resulted in improved pricing, higher volumes and a more favorable
product mix for the segment culminating in record sales and operating income for 2007. More than seventy percent of the sales for this group
were to 40 countries outside of the U.S. and U.K. The variable-index surcharge program implemented in 2005 helps to protect the Corporation
against fluctuations in the cost of steel scrap and alloys used in the manufacture of rolls. By comparison, part of 2005 was negatively impacted
by fixed selling price contracts and the inability to pass on these higher costs to the customer. Proceeds of $2,320 from a business interruption
insurance claim relating to flood damage caused in 2004 were received in 2005 and are included in earnings.

Order backlogs have continued to improve and are indicative of the increase in global demand along with customers ordering their roll
requirements several years in advance to ensure continuity of supply. Approximately $410,324 (or 59.9%) of the December 31, 2007 backlog is
scheduled for shipment beyond 2008. In addition, the Forged and Cast Rolls group has commitments of more than $90,000 from customers
under long-term supply arrangements which will be included in backlog upon receipt of specific purchase orders closer to the requirement dates
for delivery.
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Air and Liquid Processing

Operating income (loss) for 2006 includes a $25,467 charge for asbestos litigation relating to claims resulting from alleged personal injury from
exposure to asbestos-containing equipment manufactured decades ago by certain subsidiaries of the Air and Liquid Processing segment (see
Note 17 to Consolidated Financial Statements). In addition, uninsured legal and case management and valuation costs associated with asbestos
litigation approximated $450, $623 and $931 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

2007 2006 2005
Sales $105,253 $ 95,406 $75,756
Operating income (loss) $ 9,037 $(19,206) $ 3,743
Backlog $ 43,949 §$ 41,302 $36,675

In 2007, the Air and Liquid Processing segment had its best performance over the past five years. Sales and operating income increased for each
of the operations primarily as a result of higher volumes of business activity. For Buffalo Pumps, sales and operating income bettered due to
additional orders for commercial pumps from the power generation industry and pumps for U.S. Navy shipbuilders. For Aerofin, greater market
share and continued demand from OEM customers improved sales and operating income. With respect to Buffalo Air Handling, sales and
operating income increased in 2007 as a result of a strong opening backlog with operating income being further enhanced by manufacturing
efficiencies attributable to a more experienced labor force.

Order backlogs for Buffalo Pumps and Aerofin improved in comparison to the prior years. The pumps operation benefited from additional
orders by power generation customers and Navy shipbuilders and the heat-exchange coil business experienced increased demand from its OEM
customers. Backlog at the beginning of the year for Buffalo Air Handling was strong; however, some slowdown was experienced during the year
as the economy weakened causing backlog to fall below that as of the end of 2006 and 2005. Approximately $1,217 (or 2.8%) of the

December 31, 2007 backlog for this segment is scheduled for shipment beyond 2008.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Net cash flows provided by operating activities for 2007 and 2006 were comparable at $28,505 and $26,714, respectively, against $10,986 for
2005. The improvement from 2005 is primarily attributable to the positive cash flow effect from increased earnings. While the $25,467 charge
for asbestos litigation recorded in 2006 reduced earnings, it did not impact cash flows for that year. Instead, the asbestos liability, net of
insurance recoveries, will be paid over a number of years. Net payments in 2007 approximated $300 and are estimated at $10,000 in 2008. The
overall improvement in the Corporation s business activity resulted in higher sales in the fourth quarter of 2007 increasing accounts receivable as
of December 31, 2007 in comparison to 2006 and 2005. Similarly, inventories were higher due to additional demand for product, particularly
rolling mill rolls. In 2003, the Corporation received $2,320 of proceeds from its business interruption insurance claim for damage caused by
flooding to its principal roll-finishing facility in 2004.

Net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities were $(14,373), $24,096 and $(10,895) in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The
fluctuation is primarily attributable to a change in the Corporation s investment strategy in 2006 resulting in liquidation of shortterm investments
at year-end 2007 and 2006 with monies re-invested in January of the following year. By comparison, the Corporation was a net purchaser of
short-term marketable securities in 2005 of $6,095. Cash outflows include capital expenditures of approximately $13,107, $7,836 and $4,867 in
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, future capital expenditures approximating $60,000 have been approved by the
Board of Directors of the Corporation, which include approximately $38,000 for the purchase of a forge press, manipulator, and ancillary
equipment for the Corporation s domestic forged-roll facility to be spent over the next 30 months. Additionally, Union Electric Steel made its
initial contribution of $2,940 for its 49% interest in the newly-created joint venture with the remaining $11,760 expected to be contributed over
the next two years. Davy Roll also contributed $340 to its Chinese cast-roll joint venture in 2007.

Net cash outflows from financing activities were substantially breakeven for 2007 with proceeds from the issuance of stock under the
Corporation s stock option plan and resulting excess tax benefits offsetting dividends paid. By comparison, dividends paid in 2006 and 2005
exceeded proceeds received from the issuance of stock under the Corporation s stock option plan. Quarterly dividends for 2007 were $0.15 per
common share and $0.10 per common share in 2006 and 2005.
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The change in the value of the Euro and the British pound against the dollar impacted cash and cash equivalents by $116, $480 and $182 for
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

As a result of the above, cash and cash equivalents increased by $15,543 in 2007 and ended the year at $71,627 in comparison to $56,084 at
December 31, 2006. At December 31, 2005, the Corporation had cash and cash equivalents of $7,914 and investments in short-term marketable
securities of approximately $31,550. Funds on hand and funds generated from future operations are expected to be sufficient to finance the
operational and capital expenditure requirements of the Corporation. The Corporation also maintains short-term lines of credit in excess of the
cash needs of its businesses. The total available at December 31, 2007 was approximately $10,600 (including £3,000 in the U.K. and 400 in
Belgium).

The Corporation has the following contractual obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2007:

Payments Due by Period

Total <1 year 1 3years 3 Syears >Syears Other
Industrial Revenue Bond Debt™® $ 13311 $ $ $ $13311 $
Operating Lease Obligations 3,863 835 1,143 775 1,110
Capital Expenditures 45,910 12,704 33,206
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Obligations® 27,226 2,637 5,789 5,800 13,000
Purchase Obligations® 22,690 8,316 12,296 2,078
Unrecognized Tax Benefits® 944 331 613
Contributions to Joint Venture 11,760 2,940 8,820
Total $125,704 $27,763 $61,254 $ 8,653 $27.421 $ 613

(1) Amount represents principal only. Interest is not included since it is variable; interest rates ranged between 3.71% and 5.27% in the current year. The
Industrial Revenue Bonds begin to mature in 2020; however, if the bonds are unable to be remarketed they will be refinanced under a separate facility. See
Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Represents estimated contributions to the U.S. non-qualified defined benefit plan, the other postretirement benefit plan and the curtailed Davy Roll defined
benefit pension plan. No contributions were required in 2007 to the U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan and amounts to be contributed in the future, if
any, are currently not known. See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) Represents primarily commitments for the purchase of natural gas through 2011 covering approximately 75% of anticipated needs to meet orders in backlog.

(4) Represents uncertain tax positions subject to an ongoing or contemplated examination by the respective tax authority. Amounts for uncertain tax positions not
currently subject to or expected to be subject to audit are included as Other since the period of cash settlement can not be reasonably estimated. See Note
13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

With respect to environmental matters, the Corporation is currently performing certain remedial actions in connection with the sale of real estate
previously owned and has been named a Potentially Responsible Party at three third-party landfill sites. In addition, as a result of a sale of a
segment, the Corporation retained the liability to remediate certain environmental contamination at two of the sold locations and has agreed to
indemnify the buyer against third-party claims arising from the discharge of certain contamination from one of these locations. Environmental
exposures are difficult to assess and estimate for numerous reasons including lack of reliable data, the multiplicity of possible solutions, the
years of remedial and monitoring activity required and the identification of new sites. However, in the opinion of management, the potential
liability for all environmental proceedings of approximately $2,000 accrued at December 31, 2007 is considered adequate based on information
known to date (see Note 18 to Consolidated Financial Statements).

The nature and scope of the Corporation s business brings it into regular contact with a variety of persons, businesses and government agencies in
the ordinary course of business. Consequently, the Corporation and its subsidiaries from time to time are named in various legal actions.
Generally, the Corporation does not anticipate that its financial condition or liquidity will be materially affected by the costs of known, pending

or threatened litigation. However, the Corporation and its subsidiaries are involved in multiple claims for alleged personal injury from exposure

to asbestos-containing components used in certain products and there can be no assurance that future claims will not present significantly greater
and longer lasting financial exposure than presently contemplated (see Note 17 to Consolidated Financial Statements).
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EFFECTS OF INFLATION

While inflationary and market pressures on costs are likely to be experienced in 2008, it is anticipated that ongoing improvements in
manufacturing efficiencies and cost savings efforts will mitigate the effects of inflation on 2008 operating results. Product pricing for the Forged
and Cast Rolls segment is reflective of current costs with a majority of orders subject to a variable-index surcharge program which helps to
protect the segment against the volatility in the cost of raw materials. Additionally, long-term labor agreements exist at each of the key locations
and commitments have been executed for natural gas usage to cover a significant portion of orders in the backlog.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Corporation has identified critical accounting policies that are important to the presentation of the Corporation s financial condition, changes
in financial condition and results of operations and involve the most complex or subjective assessments. Critical accounting policies relate to
accounting for pension and other postretirement benefits, assessing recoverability of long-lived assets and goodwill, litigation, environmental
matters and income taxes.

Accounting for pension and other postretirement benefits involves estimating the cost of benefits to be provided well into the future and
attributing that cost over the time period each employee works. To accomplish this, input from the Corporation s actuary is evaluated and
extensive use is made of assumptions about inflation, long-term rate of return on plan assets, mortality, rates of increases in compensation,
employee turnover and discount rates.

Specifically, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is an estimate of average rates of earnings expected to be earned on funds
invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in the projected benefit obligation. Since these benefits will be paid out over many
years, the expected long-term rate of return is reflective of current investment returns and investment returns over a longer period. Consideration
is also given to historical rates of return and the mix of investments.

For the domestic plan, the rates of return earned on the market-related value of plan assets averaged 8.96% for the ten-year period of 1998  2007.
Accordingly, the Corporation believes the expected long-term rate of return of 8% for its domestic plan for 2007 and 2008 to be reasonable. The
foreign plan was formed in connection with the acquisition of the U.K. operations with plan assets transferred from the seller s plan to a
newly-created plan in October 2001. The rates of return earned on the market-related value of the plan assets averaged 7.24% for 2002  2007.
Accordingly, the Corporation believes the assumed long-term rate of return of 7.12% for 2007 and 6.91% for 2008 to be reasonable.

The discount rates utilized in determining future pension obligations and other postretirement benefits for each of the plans are based on rates of
return on high-quality fixed-income investments currently available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the pension and
other postretirement benefits. High-quality fixed-income investments are defined as those investments which have received one of the two
highest ratings given by a recognized rating agency with maturities of 10+ years. The Corporation believes the assumed rates of 6.25% and
5.65% as of December 31, 2007 for its domestic and U.K plans, respectively, to be reasonable.

The Corporation believes that the amounts recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements related to pension and other
postretirement benefits are based on appropriate assumptions although actual outcomes could differ. A percentage point decrease in the expected
long-term rate of return would increase annual pension expense by approximately $1,800. A 1/4 percentage point decrease in the discount rate
would increase projected and accumulated benefit obligations by approximately $5,600. Conversely, an increase in the expected long-term rate
of return would decrease annual pension expense and an increase in the discount rate would decrease projected and accumulated benefit
obligations (see Note 7 to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for recoverability whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the long-lived
assets may not be recoverable. If the undiscounted cash flows generated from the use and eventual disposition of the assets are less than their
carrying value, then the asset value may not be fully recoverable potentially resulting in a write-down of the asset value. Estimates of future cash
flows are based on expected market conditions over the remaining useful life of the primary asset(s). Accordingly, assumptions are made about
pricing, volume and asset-resale values. Actual results may differ from these assumptions. The Corporation believes the amounts recorded in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for property, plant and equipment are recoverable and are not impaired as of December 31,
2007.
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Goodwill is no longer amortized but tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at least annually in connection with the Corporation s
strategic planning process. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not
impaired. Fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow methodologies and market comparable information and represents the amount at
which the asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing parties. Estimates of future cash flows are based on expected
market conditions, pricing and volume. Actual results may differ from these assumptions. The Corporation believes the amount recorded in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for goodwill of $2,694 is recoverable and is not impaired as of December 31, 2007.

Litigation and loss contingency accruals are made when it is determined that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can
be reasonably estimated. Specifically, the Corporation and its subsidiaries are involved in various claims and lawsuits incidental to their
businesses. In addition, claims have been asserted alleging personal injury from exposure to asbestos-containing components historically used in
some products of certain of the Corporation s operating subsidiaries ( Asbestos Liability ) and of an inactive subsidiary and another former
division of the Corporation. Other than an accrual for certain deductible features of its relevant insurance polices, prior to the fourth quarter of
2006, the Corporation had not accrued for settlement or defense costs for pending claims for Asbestos Liability nor for settlement or defense
costs for claims that may be asserted against certain subsidiaries and the Corporation in the future. For prior periods, the Corporation did not
have sufficient information to make a reasonable estimate of pending or future claims. To assist the Corporation in determining whether an
estimate could be made of the potential liability for pending and unasserted future claims for Asbestos Liability, along with applicable insurance
coverage, and the amount of any estimates, the Corporation hired nationally-recognized asbestos-liability experts and insurance consultants. The
experts were not requested to estimate asbestos claims against the inactive subsidiary or the former division, which the Corporation believes are
immaterial. Based on their analyses, in 2006, the Corporation established reserves for the probable and reasonably estimable costs of Asbestos
Liabilities, including defense costs, through 2013, and also established receivables for the insurance recoveries that were deemed probable.
These amounts relied on assumptions that are based on currently known facts and strategy.

In 2007, the Corporation undertook another review of its Asbestos Liability claims, defense costs and the likelihood for insurance recoveries and
determined no change to the provision should be made at this time. The Corporation s actual expenses or insurance recoveries could be
significantly higher or lower than those recorded if assumptions used in the calculations vary significantly from actual results. Key variables in
these assumptions are summarized in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and include the number and type of new claims to be
filed each year, the average cost of disposing of each new claim, average annual defense costs, the resolution of coverage issues with insurance
carriers, and the solvency risk with respect to the relevant insurance carriers. Other factors that may affect the Corporation s Asbestos Liability
and ability to recover under its insurance policies include uncertainties surrounding the litigation process from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and
from case to case, reforms that may be made by state and federal courts, and the passage of state or federal tort reform legislation.

The Corporation intends to evaluate its estimated Asbestos Liability and related insurance receivables as well as the underlying assumptions on a
periodic basis to determine whether any adjustments to the estimates are required. Due to the uncertainties surrounding asbestos litigation and
insurance, these periodic reviews may result in the Corporation incurring future charges; however, the Corporation is currently unable to
estimate such future charges. Adjustments, if any, to the Corporation s estimate of its recorded Asbestos Liability and/or insurance receivables
could be material to operating results for the periods in which the adjustments to the liability or receivable are recorded, and to the Corporation s
liquidity and consolidated financial position.

Environmental exposures are difficult to assess and estimate for numerous reasons including lack of reliable data, the multiplicity of possible
solutions, the years of remedial and monitoring activity required and the identification of new sites. The Corporation believes the potential
liability for all environmental proceedings based on information known to date has been adequately reserved (see Note 18 to Consolidated
Financial Statements).

Accounting for income taxes includes management s evaluation of the underlying accounts, permanent and temporary differences, its tax filing
positions and interpretations of existing tax law. A valuation allowance is recorded against deferred income tax assets to reduce them to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In doing so, assumptions are made about the future profitability of the Corporation s operations
and the nature of that profitability. Actual results may differ from these assumptions. If the Corporation determined it would not be able to

realize all or part of the deferred income tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the valuation
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allowance would be established resulting in a charge to net income. Likewise, if the Corporation determined it would be able to realize deferred
income tax assets in excess of the net amount recorded, it would release a portion of the existing valuation allowance resulting in an increase in
net income. As of December 31, 2007, the Corporation has deferred income tax assets approximating $37,111 net of a valuation allowance of
$4,376.

The Corporation does not recognize a tax benefit in the financial statements related to a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return
unless it is more likely than not that the tax authorities will sustain the tax position solely on the basis of the position s technical merits.
Consideration is given primarily to legislation and statutes, legislative intent, regulations, rulings and case law as well as their applicability to the
facts and circumstances of the tax position when assessing the sustainability of the tax position. In the event a tax position no longer meets the

more likely than not criteria, the Corporation would derecognize the tax benefit by recognizing a liability and recording a charge to earnings.
Conversely, if the Corporation subsequently determined that a tax position met the more likely than not criteria, it would recognize the tax
benefit by reducing the liability and recording a credit to earnings. As of December 31, 2007, based on information known to date, the
Corporation believes the amount of unrecognized tax benefits of $944 for tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return which may
be challenged by the tax authorities is adequate.

See Note 13 to Consolidated Financial Statements.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 155,

Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments , which provides relief from having to separately determine the fair value of an embedded
derivative that would otherwise be required to be bifurcated from its host contract. SFAS No. 155 became effective for the Corporation on
January 1, 2007 and did not impact the Corporation s financial position or results of operations.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109 , which provides guidance for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return as well as subsequent changes in a tax position and calculation of interest and penalties. The Interpretation became effective for the
Corporation on January 1, 2007 resulting in a decrease to the liability for unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $65. See Note 13 to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measures , which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value under generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measures. This Statement applies under other
accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements; it does not require any new fair value measures. SFAS No. 157
becomes effective for the Corporation on January 1, 2008 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Corporation s financial position
or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities , which permits entities
to choose to measure certain financial instruments and other items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 becomes effective for the Corporation on
January 1, 2008 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Corporation s financial position or results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of ARB
No. 51 , which requires (1) entities that prepare consolidated financial statements and have an outstanding non-controlling interest in one or more
subsidiaries or that deconsolidate a subsidiary to clearly identify and label ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the

parent on the consolidated balance sheet and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and the non-controlling interest on
the consolidated statement of income and (2) additional disclosures relating to changes in ownership interests and other relevant items. SFAS

No. 160 becomes effective on January 1, 2009. The Corporation currently does not have any non-controlling interests in any of its subsidiaries;
accordingly, the statement will not impact the Corporation until such time.

In December 2007, the FASB revised SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations . While SFAS No. 141(R) retains the fundamental requirements of
the original pronouncement, it further defines the acquirer and is broader in scope as to its applicability. FAS No. 141(R) is effective for any
business combinations completed by the Corporation whereby the Corporation obtains control with an acquisition date on or after January 1,

2009.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the
Corporation. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and other sections of the Form 10-K as
well as the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contain forward-looking statements that reflect the Corporation s current views
with respect to future events and financial performance.

Forward-looking statements are identified by the use of the words believes, expects, anticipates, estimates, projects, forecasts and other
expressions that indicate future events and trends. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which such statements are made, are

not guarantees of future performance or expectations, and involve risks and uncertainties. For the Corporation, these risks and uncertainties

include, but are not limited to, those described under Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, there may be

events in the future that the Corporation is not able to predict accurately or control which may cause actual results to differ materially from

expectations expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. The Corporation undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking

statement, whether as a result of new information, events or otherwise.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Corporation views its primary market risk exposures to relate to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices. To
manage certain foreign currency exchange exposures, the Corporation s policy is to hedge a portion of its foreign currency denominated sales and
receivables, primarily U.S. sales denominated in Euros and U.K. sales denominated in U.S. dollars and Euros. Although strengthening of the

U.S. dollar could result in a lower volume of exports from the U.S. and at reduced margins, it is expected that some exports of the Corporation s
foreign operation may increase and gross margins might improve. Additionally, strengthening of the British pound could result in a lower

volume of exports from the U.K. and at reduced margins; however, it is expected that exports for the Corporation s domestic operations may
increase and gross margins might improve. Accordingly, a 10% strengthening of either of the entities functional currency (the U.S. dollar and
the British pound) is not expected to have a significant effect on the Corporation s consolidated financial statements.

To reduce the effect of price changes for certain of its raw materials and energy, the Corporation enters into contracts for a particular commodity
(copper) and purchases a portion of its energy usage in advance. Based on estimated annual purchases, a 10% fluctuation in commodity prices
(including electricity, natural gas, steel scrap and ferro alloys) would have an impact of approximately $8,500 and $7,200 in 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The ability to pass these increases on to the customer is contingent upon current market conditions with the Corporation potentially
having to absorb some portion of such increase. However, a sales price surcharge mechanism is in place with a majority of the customers of the
Forged and Cast Rolls segment which helps to protect the Corporation against such commodity price increases.

See also Note 12 to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEMS8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $285 in 2007 and $282 in 2006
Inventories

Insurance receivable asbestos

Other current assets

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Insurance receivable asbestos
Deferred income tax assets
Prepaid pensions

Goodwill

Investment in joint ventures

Other noncurrent assets

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued payrolls and employee benefits
Industrial Revenue Bond debt

Asbestos liability current portion
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities
Employee benefit obligations
Asbestos liability

Other noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 8)

Shareholders Equity:

Preference stock no par value; authorized 3,000 shares; none issued

Common stock par value $1; authorized 20,000 shares; issued and outstanding
10,177 shares in 2007, 9,837 shares in 2006

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total shareholders equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

December 31,
2007 2006
$ 71,627 $ 56,084
59,933 54,870
69,228 55,912
10,000 11,700
17,263 8,414
228,051 186,980
75,101 68,593
84,548 102,848
2,196 10,848
1,702 3,050
2,694 2,694
4,206 1,000
5,894 5,198
$ 404,392 $ 381,211
$ 19,418 $ 15,930
12,968 11,009
13,311 13,311
20,000 12,000
25,449 22,712
91,146 74,962
19,722 34,171
99,723 128,015
6,071 3,859
216,662 241,007
10,177 9,837
111,897 105,428
91,233 57,994
(25,577) (33,055)
187,730 140,204
$ 404,392 $381,211
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For The Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 2005

Net sales $346,834 $301,780  $246,999

Operating costs and expenses:

Costs of products sold (excluding depreciation) 243,807 221,883 194,979
Selling and administrative 38,972 36,284 30,785
Depreciation 6,659 6,507 6,569
Charge for asbestos litigation 25,467
(Gain) loss on disposition of assets (21) 67 35)
289,417 290,208 232,298
Income from operations 57,417 11,572 14,701
Other income (expense):
Investment-related income 3,576 2,168 938
Interest expense (736) (706) (547)
Other net (1,894) 98 (254)
946 1,560 137
Income before income taxes 58,363 13,132 14,838
Income tax (provision) benefit (19,132) 3,503 198
Net income $ 39231 $ 16,635 $ 15,036
Earnings per common share:
Net income
Basic $ 390 $ 1.69 $ 1.54
Diluted $ 38 § 1.67 $ 1.53
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

Basic 10,046 9,828 9,760
Diluted 10,109 9,969 9,818
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Stock

Stated
Capital
$ 9,747

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Balance January 1, 2005
Comprehensive income:

Net income 2005

Other comprehensive income®

Comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock
Cash dividends ($0.40 per share)

20

Balance December 31, 2005
Comprehensive income:

Net income 2006

Other comprehensive income®

9,767

Comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock

Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158,
net of income taxes of $10,691

Cash dividends ($0.40 per share)

70

Balance December 31, 2006
Adjustment to adopt FIN 48
Comprehensive income:

Net income 2007

Other comprehensive income®

9,837

Comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock including excess
tax benefits of $3,184

Cash dividends ($0.60 per share)

340

Balance December 31, 2007 $10,177

(a)
appropriate:

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$ 104,204

222

104,426

1,002

105,428

6,469

$ 111,897

Retained
Earnings

$ 34,163

15,036

(3,906)

45,293

16,635

(3,934)

57,994
65

39,231

(6,057)

$ 91,233

Unrecognized
Components of
Foreign Currency Minimum Employee
Translation Pension Benefit
Adjustments Liability Plans Derivatives
Balance at January 1, 2005 $ 6,155 $(22,631) $ (3,387)
Reclassification adjustments (131)
Changes in 2005 (3,422) 1,207 3,802
Balance at December 31, 2005 2,733 (21,424) 284
Reclassification adjustments (1,346)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss®

$ (19,597)

1,412

(18,185)

2,659

(17,529)

(33,055)

7,478

$ (25,577)

Total
$128,517

15,036
1,412

16,448
242
(3,906)

141,301

16,635
2,659

19,294
1,072

(17,529)
(3,934)

140,204
65

39,231
7,478

46,709

6,809
(6,057)

$ 187,730

The following table summarizes the components of other comprehensive income and accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income tax where

Unrealized Accumulated
Holding Gains Other
on Comprehensive
Securities Loss
$ 266 $  (19,597)
(84) (215)
40 1,627
222 (18,185)
(175) (1,521)
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Changes in 2006 5,600 (1,384)

Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158, net

of income taxes of $10,691 (17,529)
Reclassification as a result of

applying SFAS No. 158 22,808 (22,808)
Balance at December 31, 2006 8,333 (40,337)
Reclassification adjustments 750
Changes in 2007 274 7,801
Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 8,607 $ $ (31,786)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(218) 182 4,180
(17,529)
(1,280) 229 (33,055)
915 94) 1,571
(2,226) 58 5,907

$ 2591) $ 193 $ (25,577)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation

Charge for asbestos litigation

Deferred income taxes

Pension and other postretirement benefits

Gain on sale of short-term marketable securities
Provision for bad debts and inventory write-downs
Provision for adverse sales contracts

Provision for warranties net

Excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options
Other net

Changes in assets/liabilities:

Receivables

Inventories

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued payrolls and employee benefits

Other liabilities

Net cash flows provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from the sale of short-term marketable securities
Purchases of short-term marketable securities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Investment in Chinese joint ventures

Proceeds from U.K. governmental grants

Proceeds from the sale of assets

Net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:

Dividends paid

Proceeds from the issuance of common stock

Excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Income tax payments
Interest payments

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

For The Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

$ 39,231 §$ 16,635 $ 15,036

6,659 6,507 6,569
25,467
3,154 (12,011) (2,881)
(1,481) (2,426) (1,504)

(1,990)
480 88 158
559
535 1,416 (90)
(3,184)
852 (41) (33)

(4,433) (5,577) (10,781)
(13,413) (5,162) 3,983

(5,583) (2,163) 1,588
3,550 325 (125)
1,887 1,501 626
2,241 1,596 (1,560)

28,505 26,714 10,986

55,997 96,400 31,105
(54,007) (64,850) (37,200)
(13,107) (7,836) (4,867)

(3,358)

382
102 67

(14,373) 24,096 (10,895)

(5,514) (3,927) (3,903)
3,625 807 204
3,184

1,295 (3,120) (3,699)

116 480 182
15,543 48,170 (3,426)
56,084 7,914 11,340

$ 71,627 $ 56,084 $ 7914

$ 14041 $ 8322 $§ 2844
$ 739 $ 701 $ 529
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Description of Business

Ampco-Pittsburgh Corporation (the Corporation) is in two business segments that manufacture and sell primarily custom-engineered equipment.
The Forged and Cast Rolls segment, consisting of Union Electric Steel (UES) and Davy Roll manufactures and sells forged-hardened steel rolls
and cast iron and steel rolls to the metals industry. The Air and Liquid Processing segment consists of Aerofin-heat exchange coils, Buffalo Air
Handling-air handling systems and Buffalo Pumps-centrifugal pumps, all of which sell to a variety of commercial and industrial users.

NOTE1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The Corporation s accounting policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to
estimates and assumptions include valuing the assets and obligations related to employee benefit plans, assessing the carrying value of
long-lived assets including goodwill, accounting for loss contingencies associated with claims and lawsuits, estimating environmental liabilities
and accounting for income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. A summary of the significant accounting policies followed by
the Corporation is presented below.

Certain amounts for preceding periods have been reclassified for comparability with the 2007 presentation.
Consolidation

All subsidiaries are wholly owned and are included in the consolidated financial statements. Intercompany accounts and transactions are
eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Securities with purchased original maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents. The Corporation maintains cash and
cash equivalents at various financial institutions which may exceed federally insured amounts.

Short-Term Marketable Securities

Short-term marketable securities are considered available for sale and are carried at par value which approximates fair value. If the Corporation
expects to sell the securities in the next twelve months, the investments are classified as a current asset.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost includes the cost of raw materials, direct labor and overhead for those items
manufactured but not yet sold or for which title has not yet transferred. Fixed production overhead is allocated to inventories based on normal
capacity of the production facilities. Costs for abnormal amounts of spoilage, handling costs and freight costs are charged to expense when
incurred. Cost of domestic raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods inventories is primarily determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method. Cost of domestic supplies and foreign inventories is primarily determined by the first-in, first-out method.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost with depreciation computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated

useful lives: land improvements 15 to 20 years, buildings 25 to 50 years and machinery and equipment 3 to 25 years. Expenditures that extend
economic useful lives are capitalized. Routine maintenance is charged to expense. Gains or losses are recognized on retirements or disposals.
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not

be recoverable. If the undiscounted cash flows generated from the use and eventual disposition of the assets are less than their carrying value,

then the asset value may not be fully recoverable potentially resulting in a write-down of the asset value. Estimates of future cash flows are

based on expected market conditions over the remaining useful life of the primary asset(s). Proceeds from governmental grants are recorded as a
reduction in the purchase price of the underlying assets and amortized against depreciation over the lives of the related assets.
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Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at least annually in conjunction with the Corporation s strategic planning process.
The Corporation s reporting units are the major product lines comprising its reportable business segments. If the fair value of the reporting unit
exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not impaired. Fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow
methodologies and market comparable information and represents the amount at which the asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction
between willing parties. Estimates of future cash flows are based on expected market conditions, pricing and volume. The Corporation does not
have any other material intangible assets.

Product Warranty

Provisions for product warranties are recognized based on historical experience as a percentage of sales adjusted for potential claims when a
liability is probable and for known claims.

Employee Benefit Plans
Funded Status

Effective December 31, 2006, the Corporation adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158,
Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and
132(R). Prior to December 31, 2006, the Corporation followed the provisions of SFAS No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R). As required by SFAS
No. 158, if the fair value of the plan assets exceeds the projected benefit obligation, the overfunded projected benefit obligation is recognized as
an asset (prepaid pensions) on the balance sheet. Conversely, if the projected benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of plan assets, the
unfunded projected benefit obligation is recognized as a liability (employee benefit obligations) on the balance sheet. Gains and losses arising
from the difference between actuarial assumptions and actual experience and unamortized prior service costs are recorded within accumulated
other comprehensive loss and presented net of income tax. Prior to December 31, 2006, these actuarial gains or losses and unamortized prior
service costs were included in the determination of prepaid pensions or employee benefit obligations. Additionally, if the accumulated benefit
obligation exceeded the fair value of plan assets, the unfunded accumulated benefit obligation was recognized as a minimum pension liability
and recorded within accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income tax if appropriate, on the balance sheet. In connection with adoption
of SFAS No. 158, amounts previously classified as a minimum pension liability were reclassified to unrecognized components of employee
benefit plans, also within accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Net Periodic Pension and Other Postretirement Costs

SFAS No. 158 does not affect the calculation of net periodic pension and other postretirement costs. Net periodic pension and other
postretirement costs continue to include service cost, interest cost, expected rate of return on the market-related value of plan assets,
amortization of prior service cost and recognized actuarial gains or losses. When actuarial gains or losses exceed 10% of the greater of the
projected benefit obligations or the market-related value of plan assets, they are amortized to net periodic pension and other postretirement costs
over the average remaining service period of employees expected to receive benefits under the plans. When the gains or losses are less than 10%
of the greater of the projected benefit obligations or the market-related value of plan assets, they are included in net periodic pension and other
postretirement costs indirectly as a result of lower/higher interest costs arising from a decrease/increase in the projected benefit obligation. The
market-related value of plan assets is determined using a five-year moving average which recognizes 20% of unrealized capital gains and losses.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) includes changes in assets and liabilities from non-owner sources including foreign currency translation
adjustments; changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and effective as cash flow hedges; unrealized holding gains and losses on
securities designated as available for sale; effective with the adoption of SFAS No. 158 as of December 31, 2006, unamortized prior service
costs and actuarial gains and losses associated with employee benefit plans; and, prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 158, changes in the
minimum pension liability.

Certain components of other comprehensive loss are presented net of income tax. Foreign currency translation adjustments exclude the effect of
income taxes since earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries are deemed to be reinvested for an indefinite period of time.
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Reclassification adjustments are amounts which are realized during the year and, accordingly, are deducted from other comprehensive income
(loss) in the period in which they are included in net income or when a transaction no longer qualifies as a cash flow hedge. Foreign currency
translation adjustments are included in net income upon sale or upon complete or substantially complete liquidation of an investment in a foreign
entity. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in net income when the projected sale occurs. Unrealized holding gains and losses on
securities are included in net income when the underlying security is sold. Unamortized prior service costs and actuarial gains and losses
associated with employee benefit plans are included in net income either indirectly as a result of lower/higher interest costs arising from a
decrease/increase in the projected benefit obligation or over the average remaining service period of employees expected to receive benefits
under the plans. Prior to adoption of SFAS No. 158, changes in amounts previously classified as a minimum pension liability were not included
in net income and therefore did not have corresponding reclassification adjustments.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales is recognized when title to the product passes to the customer which typically occurs when goods are shipped, received by
the customer or loaded onto a shipping vessel. Amounts billed to the customer for shipping and handling are recorded within net sales and the
related costs are recorded within costs of products sold (excluding depreciation). Amounts billed for taxes assessed by various governmental
authorities (e.g. sales tax, value-added tax) are excluded from the determination of net income but instead recorded as a liability until remitted to
the governmental authority.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Corporation s foreign operations are translated at year-end exchange rates and the statements of operations are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Gains or losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial statements are
accumulated as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive loss until the entity is sold or substantially liquidated.

Financial Instruments

Derivative instruments which include forward exchange and futures contracts are recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or a liability
measured at their fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the use of the derivative. To the extent that a
derivative is designated and effective as a cash flow hedge of an exposure to future changes in value, the change in fair value of the derivative is
deferred in accumulated other comprehensive loss. Any portion considered to be ineffective, including that arising from the unlikelihood of an
anticipated transaction to occur, is reported as a component of earnings (other income/expense) immediately. Upon occurrence of the anticipated
transaction, the derivative designated and effective as a cash flow hedge is de-designated as a fair value hedge, the change in fair value
previously deferred in accumulated other comprehensive loss is reclassified to earnings (net sales) and subsequent changes in fair value are
recorded as a component of earnings (other income/expense). To the extent that a derivative is designated and effective as a hedge of an
exposure to changes in fair value, the change in the derivative s fair value will be offset in the statement of operations by the change in the fair
value of the item being hedged and is recorded as a component of earnings (other income/expense). The Corporation does not enter into
derivative transactions for speculative purposes and, therefore, holds no derivative instruments for trading purposes.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, compensation expense is recognized for stock options and other stock-based awards based on their fair value in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (R), Shared-Based Payment . Prior to January 1, 2006, the Corporation accounted for
stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is generally recognized only to the extent the market price
of the common stock exceeds the exercise price of the stock option at the date of the grant. As of January 1, 2006, the effective date of SFAS
No. 123 (R), no options were available for grant and granted options were fully vested.

Legal Costs

Legal costs expected to be incurred in connection with loss contingencies are accrued when such costs are probable and estimable.
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Income Taxes

Income taxes are recognized during the year in which transactions enter into the determination of financial statement income. Deferred income
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the book carrying amounts and the tax
basis of assets and liabilities including net operating loss carryforwards. A valuation allowance is provided against a deferred income tax asset
when it is more likely than not the asset will not be realized. Similarly, if a determination is made that it is more likely than not the deferred
income tax asset will be realized, the related valuation allowance would be reduced and a benefit to earnings would be recorded.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Corporation adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (FIN 48), which
provides guidance for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return,
subsequent changes in a tax position and calculation of penalties and interest. Penalties and interest are recognized as a component of the income
tax provision. The Corporation is subject to taxation in the U.S., various states and foreign jurisdictions, and remains subject to examination by
tax authorities for tax years 2004 2007. Prior to the adoption of FIN 48, the Corporation regularly evaluated the likelihood of assessments in
each of its taxing jurisdictions and established tax accruals where deemed necessary. Once established, tax accruals were adjusted based on
current information and estimates. As a result of adopting the provisions of FIN 48, the Corporation recognized a decrease in the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $65 which was recorded as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. See Note 13
for further information.

Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the
period. The computation of diluted earnings per common share is similar to basic earnings per common share except that the denominator is
increased to include the dilutive effect of the net additional common shares that would have been outstanding assuming exercise of outstanding
stock options, calculated using the treasury stock method. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding assuming exercise of the
stock options was 10,108,688 for 2007, 9,968,816 for 2006 and 9,818,059 for 2005.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measures , which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value under generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measures. This Statement applies under other
accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements; it does not require any new fair value measures. SFAS No. 157
becomes effective for the Corporation on January 1, 2008 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Corporation s financial position
or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities , which permits entities
to choose to measure certain financial instruments and other items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 becomes effective for the Corporation on
January 1, 2008 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Corporation s financial position or results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of ARB
No. 51 , which requires (1) entities that prepare consolidated financial statements and have an outstanding non-controlling interest in one or more
subsidiaries or that deconsolidate a subsidiary to clearly identify and label ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the

parent on the consolidated balance sheet and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and the non-controlling interest on
the consolidated statement of income and (2) additional disclosures relating to changes in ownership interests and other relevant items. SFAS

No. 160 becomes effective on January 1, 2009. The Corporation currently does not have any non-controlling interests in any of its subsidiaries;
accordingly, the statement will not impact the Corporation until such time.

In December 2007, the FASB revised SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations . While SFAS No. 141(R) retains the fundamental requirements of
the original pronouncement, it further defines the acquirer and is broader in scope as to its applicability. FAS No. 141(R) is effective for any
business combinations completed by the Corporation whereby the Corporation obtains control with an acquisition date on or after January 1,

2009.
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NOTE2 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES:

During 2007, a subsidiary of UES entered into an agreement with Maanshan Iron & Steel Company Limited (Maanshan) to form a joint venture
company in China. The joint venture will principally manufacture and sell forged backup rolling-mill rolls of a size and weight currently not
able to be produced by UES. The joint venture is anticipated to have an initial capacity of approximately 10,000 metric tons with production
expected to begin by early 2010. Each party will contribute cash for their respective interests. During 2007, UES contributed $2,940 and will
contribute the balance of $11,760 over the next two years. UES has not guaranteed any of the obligations of the joint venture and its maximum
exposure of loss is limited to its investment. UES accounts for its 49% interest in the joint venture under the equity method of accounting.

Additionally, the Corporation has a 25% investment in a U.K./Chinese cast-roll joint venture company which is recorded at cost, or $1,340. The
Corporation does not participate in the management or daily operation of the joint venture company, has not guaranteed any of its obligations
and has no ongoing responsibilities to it. Dividends may be declared by the Board of Directors of the joint venture company after allocation of
after-tax profits to various funds equal to the minimum amount required under Chinese law. Dividends declared and received approximated
$540, of which $340 was reinvested in the joint venture, and $170 during 2007 and 2006, respectively.

NOTE 3 INVENTORIES:

2007 2006
Raw materials $ 14,197 $12,624
Work-in-progress 35,924 28,490
Finished goods 10,486 7,425
Supplies 8,621 7,373

$ 69,228 $55,912

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, approximately 62% and 60% of the inventory was valued using the LIFO method, respectively. The LIFO
reserve approximated $(13,558) and $(10,839) at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

NOTE 4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

2007 2006
Land and land improvements $ 4,507 $ 4438
Buildings 27,371 27,162
Machinery and equipment 155,791 143,067

187,669 174,667
Accumulated depreciation (112,568) (106,074)

$ 75101 $ 68,593

NOTE5 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES:

2007 2006
Customer-related liabilities $ 9,248 $ 9,867
Forward exchange contracts 4,832 1,772
Accrued sales commissions 3,161 2,837
Other 8,208 8,236

$ 25,449 $22,712
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Customer-related liabilities include liabilities for product warranty claims and deposits received on future orders. The following summarizes

changes in the liability for product warranty claims for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Balance at the beginning of the year

Satisfaction of warranty claims

Provision for warranty claims

Other, primarily impact from changes in foreign currency exchange rates

33

2007 2006
$ 5,567 $ 3,786
(2,569) (2,632)
3,104 4,048
54 365
$ 6,156 $ 5,567
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NOTE6 BORROWING ARRANGEMENTS:

The Corporation maintains short-term lines of credit of approximately $10,600 (including £3,000 in the U.K. and 400 in Belgium). No amounts
were outstanding under these lines of credit as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

As of December 31, 2007, the Corporation had the following Industrial Revenue Bonds (IRBs) outstanding: (1) $4,120 tax-exempt IRB
maturing in 2020, interest at a floating rate which averaged 3.71% during the current year; (2) $7,116 taxable IRB maturing in 2027, interest at a
floating rate which averaged 5.27% during the current year and (3) $2,075 tax-exempt IRB maturing in 2029, interest at a floating rate which
averaged 3.75% during the current year. The IRBs are remarketed periodically at which time interest rates are reset. The IRBs are secured by
letters of credit of equivalent amounts. The letter of credit agreements require, among other things, maintenance of a minimum net worth and
prohibit a leverage ratio in excess of a stipulated amount. The Corporation was in compliance with the applicable bank covenants as of
December 31, 2007.

Despite principal not beginning to become due until 2020, the IRBs can be put back to the Corporation on short notice if, although considered
remote by the Corporation and its bankers, the bonds cannot be remarketed. At that time, the bondholders can seek reimbursement from the
letters of credit. As provided by a separate agreement with its bank, funding of the letters of credit, if so drawn against, would be satisfied with
equal and immediate borrowings under a separate IRB Standby Letter of Credit facility (the Facility). The Facility expires on August 1, 2009
and is expected to be renewed annually to provide for a continual term of greater than one year. However, the Facility includes language
regarding material adverse change to the Corporation s business which could result in it being called or cancelled at the bank s discretion;
accordingly, the IRBs remain classified as a current liability as required by EITF D-61, Classification by the Issuer of Redeemable Instruments
That Are Subject to Remarketing Agreements . The availability under the Facility is $13,566, equal to the letters of credit, and as of

December 31, 2007 no amounts were outstanding.

NOTE 7 PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS:
Pension Plans

The Corporation has a qualified defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of its U.S. employees. Generally, benefits are based on
years of service multiplied by either a fixed amount or a percentage of compensation. For its U.S. pension plan covered by the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), the Corporation s policy is to fund at least the minimum actuarially computed annual
contribution required under ERISA. Because these plans are fully funded, no additional contributions have been required for many years or are
expected to be required in 2008. Estimated benefit payments for subsequent years are $7,362 for 2008, $7,742 for 2009, $8,036 for 2010, $8,517
for 2011, $8,775 for 2012 and $47,794 for 2013  2017. The fair value of the plan s assets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 approximated
$130,330 and $130,739, respectively, in comparison to accumulated benefit obligations of $120,486 and $119,386 for the same periods.

Employees of Davy Roll participate in a contributory defined benefit pension plan that was curtailed effective December 31, 2004 and replaced
with a defined contribution pension plan. The Davy Roll plans are non-U.S. plans and therefore are not covered by ERISA. Instead,
contributions are based on local regulations. Employer contributions will continue to be made in accordance with local regulations. Employer
contributions to the contributory defined benefit pension plan approximated $1,778, $576 and $555 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and
are expected to approximate $1,596 in 2008. The fair value of the plan s assets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 approximated $40,302
(£20,242) and $36,617 (£18,711), respectively, in comparison to accumulated benefit obligations of $47,327 (£23,770) and $55,405

(£28,311) for the same periods. Additional contributions may be necessary as a result of the under-funded status of the plan; however, such
amounts, if any, are currently not determinable. Estimated benefit payments for subsequent years are $843 for 2008, $837 for 2009, $837 for
2010, $1,190 for 2011, $1,705 for 2012 and $9,920 for 2013  2017. Contributions to the defined contribution pension plan approximated $480,
$414 and $349 in 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively, and are expected to approximate $570 in 2008.
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The Corporation also maintains a nonqualified defined benefit pension plan to provide supplemental retirement benefits for selected executives
in addition to benefits provided under the Corporate-sponsored pension plans. The assets are held in a grantor tax trust known as a Rabbi trust;
accordingly, the assets are subject to claims of the Corporation s creditors, but otherwise must be used only for purposes of providing benefits
under the plan. No contributions were made to the trust in 2005 2007 and none are expected in 2008. The fair market value of the trust at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, which is included in other noncurrent assets, was $3,045 and $2,911, respectively. Changes in the fair market
value of the trust are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). The plan is treated as a non-funded pension plan for
financial reporting purposes. Accumulated benefit obligations approximated $1,773 and $1,921 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Estimated benefit payments for subsequent years are approximately $181 for 2008, $178 for 2009, $175 for 2010, $172 for 2011, $168 for 2012
and $792 for 2013 2017, assuming normal retirement of the participants.

Employees at one location participate in a multi-employer plan in lieu of the defined benefit pension programs. The Corporation contributed
approximately $188, $176 and $156 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, to this plan.

Other Postretirement Benefits

The Corporation provides postretirement health care benefits principally to the bargaining groups of one subsidiary (the Plan). The Plan covers
participants and their spouses and/or dependents who retire under the existing pension plan on other than a deferred vested basis and at the time
of retirement have also rendered 15 or more years of continuous service irrespective of age. Other health care benefits are provided to retirees
under plans no longer being offered by the Corporation. Retiree life insurance is provided to substantially all retirees. Postretirement benefits
with respect to health care are subject to certain Medicare offsets. The Corporation also provides health care and life insurance benefits to former
employees of certain discontinued operations. This obligation had been estimated and provided for at the time of disposal. The Corporation s
postretirement health care and life insurance plans are unfunded. Estimated benefit payments for subsequent years are approximately $860 for
2008, $876 for 2009, $886 for 2010, $890 for 2011, $896 for 2012 and $4,399 for 2013  2017.
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Reconciliations

The following provides a reconciliation of projected benefit obligations, plan assets, the funded status of the plans and the amounts recognized in
the consolidated balance sheets for the Corporation s defined benefit plans calculated using a measurement date as of the end of the respective

years.

Change in projected benefit obligations:
Projected benefit obligations at January 1
Service cost

Interest cost

Foreign currency exchange rate changes
Plan amendments

Actuarial (gain) loss

Participant contributions

Benefits paid from plan assets

Benefits paid by the Corporation

Projected benefit obligations at December 31
Accumulated benefit obligations at December 31

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at January 1
Actual return on plan assets

Foreign currency exchange rate changes
Corporate contributions

Participant contributions

Gross benefits paid

Fair value of plan assets at December 31

Funded status of the plans:
Fair value of plan assets
Less benefit obligations

Funded status®

Amounts recognized in the balance sheets:
Prepaid pensions (fully-funded)

Employee benefit obligations:
Accrued payrolls and employee benefits (current)
Employee benefit obligations (noncurrent)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (pre-tax):
Net actuarial loss
Prior service cost

Total (pre-tax)

U.S.

Pension Benefits
2007 2006
$129,652 $123,149

2,641 2,362
7,673 7,005
140 335
3,785) 2,506
(5,862) (5,671)
34) 34)
$130,425 $129,652
$122,259 $121,307
$130,739 $121,095
5,453 15,315

34 34
(5,896) (5,705)
$130,330 $ 130,739
$130,330 $ 130,739
130,425 129,652
$ 95 $ 1,087
$ 1,702 $ 3,050
$ 181 $ (139)
(1,616) (1,824)

$ @1,797) $ (1,963)
$ 21,312 $ 18,804
5,027 5,528

$ 26,339 $ 24,332

Foreign
Pension Benefits
2007 2006
$ 55405 $ 44,417

2,713 2,256
1,018 6,449
(10,979) 3,100
(830) (817)
$ 47,327 $ 55,405
$ 47,327 $ 55,405
$ 36,617 $ 29,728
2,120 2,839
617 4,291
1,778 576
(830) (817)
$ 40,302 $ 36,617
$ 40,302 $ 36,617
47,327 55,405
$ (7,025) $(18,788)
$ $
$ (1,839) $ (695)
(5,186) (18,093)
$ (7,025) $(18,788)
$ 16,194 $ 26,567
$ 16,194 $ 26,567

Other Postretirement

Benefits
2007 2006
$ 14,338 $ 14,269
400 403
757 814
(1,826) (464)
423 405
(1,111) (1,089)
$ 12,981 $ 14,338
$ 12,981 $ 14,338
$ $
688 684
423 405
(1,111) (1,089)
$ $
$ $
12,981 14,338
$(12,981) $(14,338)
$ $
$ (829 $ (899)
(12,152) (13,439)
$(12,981) $(14,338)
$ 1,521 $ 3449
403 439
$ 1,924 $ 3,888
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As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the funded status of the U.S. Pension Benefit plans is comprised of a fully-funded status for the qualified plan and, since
the assets of $3,045 and $2,911 of the non-qualified plan are held in a Rabbi trust and accordingly are not considered plan assets for purposes of this
reconciliation, an under-funded status for the non-qualified plan of $1,797 and $1,963.
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Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2007 expected to be recognized in net periodic pension and
other postretirement costs in 2008 include:

U.S. Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits
Net actuarial (gain) loss $ (130) $ 314 $ 17
Prior service cost 649 69
$ 519 $ 314 $ 86

Pension assets are invested with the objective of maximizing long-term returns while minimizing material losses to meet future benefit
obligations as they become due. The fluctuation in plan assets is attributable to benefit payments, contributions to the plans and returns on plan
assets which, for 2007 and 2006 respectively, approximated 4.57% and 13.03% for the domestic plan and 5.59% and 8.92% for the foreign plan.

The following summarizes target asset allocations as of December 31, 2007 and major asset categories as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:

U.S. Foreign
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits
Target Percentage of Target Percentage of
Allocation Plan Assets Allocation Plan Assets
Dec. 31, 2007 2007 2006 Dec. 31, 2007 2007 2006

Equity Securities 65 75% 70 % 66% 70 80% 68 % 77%
Fixed-Income Securities 15 25% 20% 20% 20 30% 32% 23%
Hedge and Absolute Return Funds 5 15% 5% 8%

Other (primarily cash and cash equivalents) 0 5% 5% 6% 0 10%

Investments in equity securities are primarily in common stocks of publicly-traded U.S. and international companies. Investments in
fixed-income securities are principally A-rated or better bonds with maturities of less than ten years, preferred stocks and convertible bonds.

The actual return on the fair value of plan assets is included in determining the funded status of the plans. In determining net periodic pension
and other postretirement costs, the expected long-term rate of return on the market-related value of plan assets is used. Differences between the
actual return on plan assets and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets are classified as part of unrecognized actuarial gains or
losses which are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheet. When these gains or losses exceed 10%
of the greater of the projected benefit obligations or the market-related value of plan assets, they are amortized to net periodic pension and other
postretirement costs over the average remaining service period of employees expected to receive benefits under the plans. When the gains or
losses are less than 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligations or the market-related value of plan assets, they are included in net
periodic pension and other postretirement costs indirectly as a result of lower/higher interest costs arising from a decrease/increase in the
projected benefit obligation. As a result of favorable investment returns on plan assets since the early 1990s and a fully-funded status, the
domestic plan generates income. The foreign plan generates expense because the plan is not fully funded and interest costs and amortization of
actuarial losses exceed the expected return on plan assets.
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Net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit costs include the following components for the year ended December 31:

U.S. Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Service cost $ 2641 $ 2362 $ 2042 $ $ $ $ 400 $ 403 $ 303
Interest cost 7,673 7,005 6,830 2,713 2,256 2,144 757 814 771
Expected return on plan assets (11,631) (12,496) (10,610) (2,669) (2,194) (1,882)
Amortization of prior service cost
(benefit) 641 617 592 35 447) (548)
Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss (115) (119) (111) 471 390 364 102 276 166
Net (income) cost $ (791) $ (2,631) $ (1,257) $ 515 $ 452 $ 626 $1,294 $1,046 $ 692

Assumptions

Assumptions are reviewed on an annual basis. In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for both the U.S. and foreign
plans, the Corporation evaluates the long-term returns earned by the plans, the mix of investments that comprise plan assets and expectations of
future long-term investment returns.

The following assumptions were used to determine the benefit obligations as of December 31:

U.S. Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Discount rate 6.25% 6.00% 5.65% 4.81% 6.25% 6.00%
Rate of increases in compensation 4.00%  4.00%

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit costs for the year ended December 31:

U.S. Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Discount rate 6.00% 5.75% 6.00% 4.81% 4.75% 525% 6.00% 5.75% 6.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 712% 6.86% 7.01%
Rate of increases in compensation 4.00% 3.00% 3.00%

In addition, the assumed health care cost trend rate at December 31, 2007 for other postretirement benefits is 9% for 2008, gradually decreasing
to 4.75% in 2012. In selecting rates for current and long-term health care assumptions, the Corporation considers known health care cost
increases, the design of the benefit programs, the demographics of its active and retiree populations and expectations of inflation rates in the
future. A one percentage point increase or decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rate would change the postretirement benefit obligation
at December 31, 2007 and the annual benefit expense for 2007 by approximately $1,500 and $200, respectively.
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NOTE8 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES:

Outstanding standby and commercial letters of credit as of December 31, 2007 approximated $21,678, the majority of which serve as collateral
for the IRBs.

In connection with the sale of a segment in 2003, the Corporation provided typical warranties to the buyer (such as those relating to income
taxes, intellectual property, legal proceedings, product liabilities and title to property, plant and equipment) which primarily expire with the
statutes of limitations. Losses suffered by the buyer as a result of the Corporation s breach of warranties are reimbursable by the Corporation up
to approximately $2,000. No amount has been paid to date and based on experience while owning the segment, the Corporation believes no
amounts will become due.

Davy Roll received $1,880 (£1,000) of U.K. governmental grants toward the purchase and installation of certain machinery and equipment.
Under the agreement, the grants are repayable if certain conditions are not met including achieving and maintaining a targeted level of
employment through March 2009. As of this date, Davy Roll s level of employment exceeds the targeted level of employment; accordingly, no
liability has been recorded.

See Note 2 for contributions to a joint venture, Note 17 regarding litigation and Note 18 for environmental matters.
NOTE9 AUTHORIZED AND ISSUED SHARES:

Under the Corporation s Shareholder Rights Plan, each outstanding share of common stock carries one Preference Share Purchase Right (a
Right). Under certain circumstances, each Right entitles the shareholder to buy 1/100 of a share of Series A Preference Stock at a $45.00
exercise price. The Rights are exercisable only if a party acquires, or commences a tender offer to acquire, beneficial ownership of 20% or more
of the Corporation s common stock without the approval of the independent directors on the Corporation s Board of Directors.

After the Rights become exercisable, if anyone acquires 30% or more of the Corporation s stock or assets, merges into the Corporation or
engages in certain other transactions, each Right may be used to purchase shares of the Corporation s common stock (or, under certain
conditions, the acquirer s common stock) worth twice the exercise price. The Corporation may redeem the Rights, which expire in November
2008, for one cent per Right under certain circumstances. At December 31, 2007, there are 3,000,000 shares of unissued preference stock, of
which 150,000 shares have been designated as Series A Preference Stock for issuance in connection with these Rights.

NOTE 10 STOCK OPTION PLAN:

Under the terms of the 1997 Stock Option Plan, as amended, options may be granted to selected employees to purchase, in the aggregate, up to
600,000 shares of the common stock of the Corporation. Options may be either incentive or non-qualified and are subject to terms and
conditions, including exercise price and timing of exercise, as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The
options vest at date of grant and have a ten-year life. Options have been granted at an exercise price equivalent to the market price on the date of
grant; accordingly, no stock-based compensation costs have been recorded in net income. All shares under options were exercisable during 2005
2007.

There were no options granted in 2007 or 2006. During 2005, the remaining 45,000 stock options were granted. The exercise price of $13.67
was equivalent to the market price on the date of grant; accordingly, no stock-based compensation expense was recognized. The
weighted-average fair value of options as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was $3.08 based on the following
assumptions: dividend yield of 2.9%, expected volatility of 26.3%, risk-free interest rate of 3.9% and expected option life of 5.7 years. Had
compensation cost been determined base